Table of Contents

I. INTRODUCTION AND CONTACT INFORMATION	2
A. Graduate Program in Microbiology	2
B. PROGRAM CONTACT INFORMATION	
II. THE ACADEMIC PROGRAM	4
A. GUIDANCE COMMITTEE	4
B. COURSE PROGRAM	
C. LABORATORY ROTATIONS AND CHOICE OF THE MAJOR PROFESSOR	4
D. MCBL SEMINAR	
E. TEACHING REQUIREMENT	
F. FINANCIAL SUPPORT	
G. GRADES AND ACADEMIC PROBATION	
I. ANNUAL PROGRESS EVALUATION	
J. QUALIFYING EXAM	
K. DISSERTATION COMMITTEE	
L. Normative Time	
M. DISSERTATION PREPARATION AND DEFENSE	10
N. Career Guidance	10
III. THE QUALIFYING EXAM	11
A. STUDENT GUIDELINES FOR THE QUALIFYING EXAM	11
1. When are you ready for your qualifying exam?	
2. Composition of the Qualifying Exam Committee	
3. Scheduling of the Qualifying Exam	
4. Dissertation Research Proposal	
5. Written Examination	
6. Oral Examination B. RECOMMENDED PROCEDURES FOR CHAIRS OF MCBL QUALIFYING EXAMS	
1. Written Examination	
2. Oral Examination	
3. Summary of the Dissertation Proposal Critique	
IV. FORMS AND GUIDELINES	
A. PATHWAY TO THE PH.D. DEGREE	
Course Program for a Ph.D. in Microbiology	
Course Plan Form	
ANNUAL REVIEW OF GRADUATE STUDENT PROGRESS	
V GENERAL INFORMATION FOR GRADUATE STUDENTS	23

I. Introduction and Contact Information

A. Graduate Program in Microbiology

The Graduate Program in Microbiology (MCBL) is an interdisciplinary program with participating faculty from the departments of Biology, Cell Biology and Neuroscience, Chemical and Environmental Engineering, Chemistry, Entomology, Environmental Sciences, Plant Pathology and Microbiology, and the Division of Biomedical Sciences. Faculty research interests are concentrated into four major research areas:

- Microbial Pathogenesis
- Environmental Microbiology and Ecology
- Molecular and Cellular Microbiology
- Microbial Evolution, Genomics and Metagenomics

Given the diversity in MCBL, graduate students have the opportunity to incorporate a wide range of disciplines into their training experience. Programs of study are tailored to the interests and goals of individual students.

This handbook is designed to aid MCBL students to adapt to their new academic environment and to design a personalized and stimulating program of study. Because the practices of different graduate programs at UC Riverside often vary, the MCBL student should carefully read this manual and consult with their Graduate Advisor or Student Services Advisor when questions arise.

Additional information can be found on the <u>MCBL website</u>: http://microbiology.ucr.edu/. Refer to the <u>Graduate Division</u> website (http://graduate.ucr.edu/) for the Graduate Advisor's Manual, Policies and Procedures Governing Graduate Student Employment, and the Graduate Division Calendar.

B. Program Contact Information

Program Director:

Dr. Emma Aronson

The Program Director is involved in administrative and academic decisions for the MCBL program. The Program Director is responsible for overseeing the processing of graduate student applications, recruitment of admitted students, and chairs the Recruitment and Admissions Committee. The Director also chairs the MCBL Executive Committee.

Graduate Advisor for Continuing Students:

Dr. Emma Aronson

The Graduate Advisor for Continuing Students is responsible for overseeing the academic progress of all MCBL students and chairs the MCBL Curriculum Committee. The Advisor approves Course Programs, Guidance Committees, Qualifying Exam Committees, and Dissertation Committees. The Advisor is also actively involved with students having academic problems (i.e., academic probation), and acts as a mediator to find solutions to nonproductive student-faculty interactions.

Graduate Advisor for Continuing Students:

Dr. Adler Dillman

The Graduate Advisor for Recruitment is responsible for overseeing the admission process and is the chair of the Admission Committee.

MCBL Student Services Advisor:

Laura McGeehan, CNAS Graduate Student Affairs Center, 1140C Batchelor Hall, 951-827-5688, laura.mcgeehan@ucr.edu

The MCBL Student Services Advisor assists students with enrollment and registration, financial issues, and academic progress. The Student Services Advisor is also the first contact for applicants to the program and manages the files during the admissions process.

Administrative Offices

Please consult the BMPN Administrative website for information about staff.

II. The Academic Program

A. Guidance Committee

At the beginning of the second quarter of your first year, you should begin thinking about choosing your Guidance Committee immediately after you have a Major Professor. You should have your Guidance Committee before the beginning of your second year in the program. Please speak to your graduate advisor if you are having difficulty finding one. If a student has chosen a major professor, he/she should be the Guidance Committee chairperson. Otherwise the chairperson for this Committee should be in a field that is closely allied with the student's research interests. The committee is composed of the chairperson and two additional MCBL faculty. The student must ask each faculty member to serve on their committee to ensure participation. Please use the form https://ucrbsgsac.wufoo.com/forms/mcbl-guidance-committee-nomination-form/ to send your committee member nominations to the Faculty Graduate Advisor for Continuing Students. The final Guidance Committee selections will be subject to approval by the Graduate Advisor.

This Guidance Committee advises the student on a course program. In addition, it will evaluate academic progress and research productivity on an annual basis. The committee serves in this guidance role until the student passes the Written and Oral Qualifying Exams. After the qualifying exam, the Dissertation Committee will serve the guidance role for the dissertation research.

Upon choosing a laboratory for Ph.D. research, it may be appropriate for the Guidance Committee Chairperson and members to be changed. If needed, please communicate this to your committee.

B. Course Program

The Graduate Advisor will review each student's previous academic records and offer recommendations to the Guidance Committee; this will ensure that the student has fulfilled all Entry Requirements. If remedial classes are necessary, they will be accommodated in the Course Program.

It is essential that the student meet with the Guidance Committee to ensure that the student is taking the appropriate courses. Core classes are offered every year, so plan accordingly to ensure all required classes are taken within the first two years of study.

The student, in consultation with his/her Guidance Committee, will plan a Course Program consisting of Entry Requirements, Core Classes and Supplemental Classes. A copy of this plan is submitted on the *Course Program Form* to the Student Services Advisor for inclusion in the student file.

C. Laboratory Rotations and Choice of the Major Professor

Laboratory rotations are not mandatory but are encouraged. This is a good opportunity for a student to determine if his/her interests match the faculty members of choice. They are an excellent opportunity not only to find the optimal "fit" in a lab but also to make more scientific connections on campus. However, if a student has already chosen a laboratory for his/her thesis work, rotations are optional.

Rotations are to be five-weeks in length. The first two laboratory rotations should be selected by the first week of the quarter of entry at UC Riverside. The Graduate Advisor will help the student in the selection of up to four five-week rotations. The last potential 5-week rotation is in Spring quarter and students must declare their lab by the end of that 5-week Spring rotation. Please report your rotations to the Faculty Advisor for Continuing Students.

It is important to plan ahead. Some laboratories are in high demand. It is hoped that the rotations will give each MCBL student a feeling for the diversity of the MCBL Program. Once the student has selected a major professor, the Program Director and Graduate Advisor should be notified, and the Guidance Committee altered, if necessary.

If circumstances arise that later necessitate a change in major professor, the Graduate Advisor should be consulted early. These matters can often be resolved quickly and confidentially with the approval of both the student and faculty member. When necessary, the Graduate Advisor will seek the aid of the Guidance or Dissertation Committee.

D. MCBL Seminar

The MCBL 250 seminar (Seminar in Microbiology) must be taken every quarter. This seminar consists of off-campus invited speakers and also MCBL faculty chalk-talks. The seminar schedule is announced each quarter and attendance is mandatory. Any absences should be discussed with the Program Director in advance. To apply for a waiver for any requirement, please consult the Graduate Division website and fill out the appropriate form: https://graduate.ucr.edu/petitions-and-forms

E. Teaching Requirement

All MCBL students are required to teach **two quarters** in a <u>microbiology-related</u> course during their tenure as a graduate student. This is a minimum requirement and students are encouraged to teach additional quarters to gain valuable experience. This requirement is usually fulfilled by appointment as a Teaching Assistant (TA). (It is unlikely you will be a TA in the first year.). Please consult <u>TA online</u> for more information about applying for a TA. This involves teaching of laboratory and/or discussion sections in courses with a substantive microbiology component. This is accomplished under the supervision of the faculty in charge of the assigned course. A GPA of 3.00 is required to be a Teaching Assistant. No TA may have more than 7 units of incomplete grades. TAs must be making acceptable progress to the degree and be enrolled in 12 units/quarter.

Before entering the classroom as a teaching assistant, the University of California requires that all graduate students complete some form of instructional training. At UCR, students receive this formal training through the Teaching Assistant Development Program (TADP) run by the Graduate Division. More information in including orientation dates is available at http://tadp.ucr.edu.

Upon entry to UCR, all non-native speakers of English are required to pass the <u>Versant</u> test (test of spoken English). Please consult the <u>Graduate Student Employment</u> website for more information about employment.

All TAs will be evaluated by the students in the course and may also be evaluated by the professor or academic coordinator administering the course. MCBL students who do not receive acceptable evaluations from the students will be required take additional TADP training if they want to be eligible to TA in the future. MCBL students are to act in a professional manner at all times. They must interact with moral and ethical integrity with all students, faculty and associate TAs. TA requirements vary between courses and instructors. Instructors and TAs must develop an effective means of frequent communication and must abide by University rules and standards.

F. Financial Support

Many PhD students are awarded Graduate Division fellowship(s) upon acceptance to the MCBL. In many cases Graduate Student Research Assistantships (GSRs) provided by the student's major professor will be the primary source of funding. In most cases the major professor will also provide funding during the summer term. Some funds are distributed directly through the MCBL program. To qualify for funding from the MCBL, students must be in good academic standing and maintain a 3.0 GPA every quarter enrolled. The funding is merit-based and is, therefore, competitive. Ask the Program Director, Graduate Advisor, or your major professor if you have questions about your funding situation. MS students are completely self-funded.

Students are encouraged to take independent steps to find alternative sources of funding. A demonstrated ability to secure funding is viewed very positively in academia and industry, and plays an important role in professional development. Students can find information about alternative funding sources through the <u>Graduate Division</u> website and the

<u>Financial Aid office</u>. You may also consult with the Program Director and Graduate Advisor regarding fellowships in your research area.

Additional UCR funding sources include:

<u>Dissertation Research Grants</u>: Graduate Division awards for students who have advanced to candidacy. This award is to help students defray their research expenses. There is one competition per quarter. Application deadlines are available from Graduate Division.

<u>Dissertation-Year Fellowship Awards (DYFA)</u>: Graduate Division award of stipend plus fees, a research allowance, and a travel allowance. This award is for domestic students (including U.S. residents) who demonstrate high potential and promise for a career in teaching and research. Students are required to complete their Ph.D. within the coming academic year (by the end of the award period). The proposal requires an academic research plan. Student must be nominated by the MCBL Director. The deadline is late Winter quarter.

<u>Graduate Student Association Mini-Grant</u>: The UCR Graduate Student Association awards small grants to defray the costs of travel to meetings. Information about these grants and the application deadlines should be obtained from the Graduate Student Association (<u>www.gsa.ucr.edu</u>). MCBL student advice on the protocol for obtaining and using travel grants is provided in a separate section of this handbook.

The College of Natural and Agricultural Sciences (CNAS) awards several scholarships, awards and prizes each year to graduate students. The application deadline is usually in May. Information about these can be obtained from the CNAS Dean's office or from the Graduate Advisor.

Extramural funding sources include:

National Science Foundation Graduate Research Fellowships: Three years of support for graduate research. Applicants may have completed no more than 12 months of full time graduate study as of August 31 in the year they apply. (This means that students just starting their second year of graduate study in the fall are eligible to apply.) The application deadline is in the fall. See the NSF website for details (www.nsf.gov).

<u>National Science Foundation Doctoral Dissertation Improvement Grants</u>: Awards to students who have advanced to candidacy. Funding is for financial needs that cannot be met. Please check the NSF website for details. Applicants need not be U.S. citizens. The deadline is in the fall (<u>www.nsf.gov</u>).

<u>American Association of University Scholars:</u> Dissertation fellowship grants to women in the final year of their doctoral degree (www.aauw.org). All female students in MCBL should qualify for this award.

Society of Sigma Xi: A society of biologists that supports graduate student study at UCR.

G. Grades and Academic Probation

All Ph.D. students must maintain a GPA of 3.00 or better. If a fellowship recipient's GPA falls below a 3.00, the student is likely to lose funding from the fellowship. A minimum GPA of 3.00 in all upper division and graduate courses related to the degree is required for graduation. Retention of a student in MCBL with poor academic standing requires compelling reasons. Any student on Academic Probation should meet quarterly with the Guidance Committee. Students should not underestimate the importance of maintaining a good academic standing. Students must also make satisfactory progress in the laboratory.

H. Academic Dishonesty and Scientific Misconduct* Academic Dishonesty

The faculty of the University of California, Riverside, believe that the vast majority of our students maintain high standards of academic honesty. However, occasional incidents of academic dishonesty do occur. Many such acts are committed through ignorance. Often, a student accused of cheating will vehemently deny the charge, claiming that he/she did not know the act violated established policy. The following statement is intended to clarify what constitutes academic dishonesty and to describe the procedures and consequences if a student is accused of and found guilty of breaking the rules that apply to all UC Riverside students. At UCR, academic dishonesty is a serious offense and will not be tolerated. See UC Policies and Regulations that are published every year in the online General Catalog.

Definition of academic dishonesty

Cheating: It is cheating to copy from another student's examination, quiz, laboratory work, or homework assignment. The use of pre-prepared notes or other resources, in any form, during an examination, unless the instructor expressly authorizes such use, also constitutes cheating. If a student knowingly allows someone else to copy from their homework, laboratory work, or examination, they are in violation of section 102.01. Revising a work after its final evaluation and representing the revised version as being the original work is cheating. Forging or otherwise unauthorized changing of an earned grade is also academically dishonest. Arranging for someone else to take an examination under your identification also constitutes an act of cheating. In this last instance, both parties are liable.

<u>Plagiarism</u>: According to Webster's Dictionary, plagiarism is the act of stealing and passing off as one's own the ideas or words of another--without properly referencing the original source. Please note that the faculty will pay attention not to whether you meant to plagiarize, but whether you did plagiarize. Additionally, submitting the same paper twice or fulfilling the requirements of two subjects with one paper is academically dishonest. In short, one can plagiarize oneself and be sanctioned for the violation. You may use ideas from other sources, but you must paraphrase and document their use with citations, usually in the form of attributed quotations, literature cited, etc.

Unauthorized Collaboration: Collaboration occurs when a student works with other students to study, do lab work, review books or develop a presentation or report. Students must receive very clear permission from the instructor to participate in collaborations. What one instructor may view as collaboration may be seen as cheating by another. The important thing to note is that if the limits of collaboration are not clear, it is the student's responsibility to ask the instructor for very clear and specific direction.

<u>Manufacture of Data</u>: It is academically dishonest to manufacture or deliberately alter data submitted in connection with laboratory reports, term papers, thesis research, publications, other written material, etc.

Scientific Misconduct

Integrity in research and scholarly activities is the responsibility of the entire academic community. Scholars work in an environment in which there is an important sense of trust. Published material is assumed to have been obtained during the author's investigations. Falsification or fabrication of such data is intolerable. Each scientist, and the University, is responsible for promoting practices that discourage scientific misconduct.

Definition of scientific misconduct

In general terms, scientific misconduct can be recognized to cover two broad categories, the distinction being in terms of the focus of the dishonesty. The first arises where there is fabrication or falsification of the research results; the second arises where there is plagiarism, misquoting or other misappropriation of the work of other researchers. Colluding in or concealing the misconduct of others is also misconduct. Honest errors do not constitute scientific misconduct. Here are examples of scientific misconduct:

Falsification of Data: Ranging from fabrication to deceptive selective reporting of findings and omission of conflicting data, or willful suppression and/or distortion of data.

<u>Plagiarism</u>: The appropriation of the language, ideas, or thoughts of another and representation of them as one's own original work.

<u>Violation of Generally Accepted Research Practices</u>: Serious deviation from accepted practices in proposing or carrying out research, improper manipulation of experiments to obtain biased results, deceptive statistical or analytical manipulations, or improper reporting of results.

Other Miscellaneous Inappropriate Behavior: These include: inappropriate accusation of misconduct; withholding or destruction of information relevant to a claim of misconduct, or retaliation against persons involved in the allegation or investigation; and misappropriation of funds or resources for personal gain.

*Portions adapted from the policy statements of the UCR Plant Pathology Graduate Program Handbook, University of Maryland, United Kingdom Research Councils, and "Misconduct in Science" by V. Hammer.

I. Annual Progress Evaluation – Due June 1st, Every Year

MCBL students are <u>required</u> to meet with their Guidance Committee or Dissertation Committee to ensure that adequate progress toward the degree has been made. This meeting is essential for completion of the *Annual Review of Graduate Student Progress*. It also ensures that Committee members are aware of the advances and problems encountered by the student over the year. The Graduate Advisor will review all evaluations and specific recommendations concerning the student's progress will be made to the Graduate Division. Justification for retention of students that have exceeded normative time (15 quarters) or on academic probation will be based on this annual evaluation.

Students will fill out the electronic <u>Wufoo Annual Progress Report</u>, attaching a detailed summary of his/her research progress (2-5 pages only; figures may be included) to the electronic form: https://ucrbsgsac.wufoo.com/forms/q1u1c88e0qkz9vh/. This report must be submitted to the Committee Chair one week before the annual meeting. At the meeting, the student will give a ~15 minute oral presentation on their progress, starting with what their goals were for the past year and ending with their goals for the next year. The Committee chair will complete the Annual Research Progress Evaluation (ARPE) MS Word document (attached to the end of this handbook), with the student and Committee members during the meeting. The completed ARPE form will be emailed to the Faculty Advisor for Continuing Students, with a memo stating the names of the committee members and that the committee members agree on the contents of the ARPE form, with a cc to the staff advisor. The Faculty Advisor for Continuing students will email Graduate Division confirming that the ARPE has been reviewed and approved.

The system of holding regular committee meetings allows the student to gain input from Committee members and ensure that the student is on the track to success. These meetings provide the student an opportunity to present any extenuating circumstances that may have adversely impacted productivity in the past year (i.e., health-related matters, unusual personal circumstances, financial difficulties, or student-faculty relationships). If the student-faculty relationship has been difficult, the student should discuss the issues with the Graduate Advisor prior to the Committee meeting and the student will be given an opportunity to voice a grievance to the Committee in the absence of the major professor.

Year One: The student shall form and meet with the Guidance Committee to discuss the student's progress in the Ph.D. program. The student will have nearly completed the three quarters of classes and laboratory rotations. A major professor should have been chosen; short-term and long-term research goals should be discussed to orient the Guidance Committee to the nature of the research project.

Year Two: The student should have completed all or a majority of classes for the Ph.D. in

 $\frac{2019/2020}{\text{Microbiology.}} \ \, \text{The student will give a short oral presentation of research progress to the Committee.}$ Short-term and long-term goals should be discussed. The time for the Written and Oral Qualifying Exams should be established. Most students will have completed their Qualifying Exams by the start of the fall quarter in the third year of residence.

Year Three: The student should have completed the Qualifying Exams and advanced to candidacy. The student will form and then present a detailed description of research progress to the Dissertation Committee.

Year Four: The student should have made major strides to the completion of the dissertation research. It is anticipated that the student will be able to relate a probable date of completion of the Dissertation requirements.

Year Five: The student should complete their Dissertation requirements. It is strongly advised that during their final year of study, MCBL students meet frequently with their Dissertation Committee (once per quarter). This will ensure that the student will have met all of the research directives required for completion of the Ph.D. and that there is complete agreement on the nature and extent of the dissertation research. When the quarter for the dissertation defense is approaching, a student may elect to register for "Filing Fee Status." To apply for Filing fee status, go to R'Grad and fill out the appropriate form. This status allows for a one-time reduction in fees but imposes many limitations in student employment, access to UCR GSHIP health insurance, laboratory use and student/faculty contact. Please consult Graduate Division for details regarding filing fee status.

J. Qualifying Exam

The Qualifying Exam is generally taken between the fourth and seventh quarter of residence in MCBL. The timing is dependent on completion of the student's course program. The student must have completed ALL course work requirements prior to the written and oral qualifying exams.

The Qualifying Committee consists of five members. Please consult the <u>Graduate Division Rules</u> for the formation of your qualifying committee. In order to nominate your qualifying committee, please go to **R'Grad on R'web** and choose the Nomination Qualifying Committee (Form 2). Submit this form at least two months before your exam date. You must receive an official confirmation and approval of your qualifying committee from Graduate Division before sitting for you exams. If you take your exam before official approval from Graduate Division, your exam may be invalidated.

To aid students in the Qualifying Exam process, three documents have been assembled. The *Student Guideline for the Qualifying Exam* (Section III) will inform the student about Qualifying Committee nominations, Dissertation Research Proposal requirements, and the nature of the written and oral exams. The *Recommended Procedures for Chairs of MCBL Qualifying Exams* (Section III) will inform the students and exam chairs of the logistics of the written and oral exams.

K. Dissertation Committee

Please consult the <u>Graduate Division Rules</u> for the formation of your dissertation committee. Please go to the <u>Graduate Division Petitions and Forms</u> website to fill out the Nomination/Change your Dissertation Committee form. Your committee should be composed of the student's major professor and two other members of the MCBL. When considered necessary, a fourth Dissertation Committee member may be added. The committee members should be chosen carefully to ensure maximal guidance. Under unique circumstances, a faculty member outside of the MCBL or a professor from another institution might be included as a member.

The Dissertation Committee must be chosen after the oral exam. The Chair of the Dissertation Committee (Major Professor) must be reported on the form that records the student's performance on the qualifying exam. The remaining members may be nominated within several weeks following the exam on the form noted above. Please note that your committee must be approved by Graduate Division or a registration hold may be placed on your account.

The Dissertation Committee assumes the responsibilities of the Guidance Committee after the student has advanced to candidacy. The Dissertation Committee will meet at least once each year to evaluate the student's research progress. A dissertation acceptable to all committee members must be submitted based upon independent, original research. Before approval of the dissertation, the student is expected to present her/his research at a public Dissertation Defense Seminar. Students may reserve a room on

campus here: https://chassintranet.ucr.edu/frs

L. Normative Time

Students are expected to complete their degree requirements within normative time. At UC Riverside, normative time is the period of full-time registration required to earn the degree. Assuming that the student enters MCBL with no course deficiencies or other remedial work, normative time for the Ph.D. is 15 quarters. Students that exceed normative time will be carefully monitored by the Graduate Division, Graduate Advisor, and Dissertation Committee, to ensure adequate progress toward the degree is made.

M. Dissertation Preparation and Defense

A dissertation acceptable to all committee members must be submitted based upon independent, original research. It is therefore advisable to meet frequently with the Dissertation Committee during the final year of research. The committee may request that the student use the format of a specific journal, within the guidelines of the Graduate Division. The writing process will frequently take three to six months to complete. The schedules of the Dissertation Committee Members and Graduate Division deadlines must be taken into consideration.

- 1. The Graduate Division has strict guidelines for the formatting of the MS and Ph.D. thesis; students should visit the <u>Graduate Division</u> website for preparation of the dissertation before writing their thesis: https://graduate.ucr.edu/dissertation-and-thesis-submission
- The deadlines for review of the dissertation format and deadlines for degree conferral vary with each quarter. Please check these deadlines carefully on the <u>Graduate Division</u> <u>Graduation Procedures</u> website.
- Committee members are expected to examine the dissertation during the drafting as well as the final version. The student is expected to provide each committee member with a hard copy of the dissertation for review prior to the defense and a hard copy of the final version, upon request.

Before approval of the dissertation, the student is expected to present her/his research at a publicly announced Dissertation Defense Seminar. The seminar can be presented in the MCBL Seminar series. Students may reserve a room on campus here: https://chassintranet.ucr.edu/frs
Please email the staff graduate advisor a month before your defense with the following information for the official announcement: title, a recent picture and the time and location of the defense.

N. Career Guidance

Students are encouraged to consider their next career move in advance of graduation. In most cases the decision will be in consultation with the major professor and other faculty. In many cases, students arrange for a postdoctoral position six months to one year prior to graduation. UCR hosts a Careers Service Center for graduate students. The UCR Career Center provides current information on job opportunities for Graduate Students: https://careers.ucr.edu/grad-students.

III. The Qualifying Exam

A. Student Guidelines for the Qualifying Exam

1. When are you ready for your qualifying exam?

The exams are generally taken at the end of the student's sixth quarter (second year), although this timing is dependent on the course work essential for the student's program. The student must have completed **ALL** course work requirements prior to the written and oral qualifying exams. The Graduate Advisor and the Chair of the Qualifying Exam Committee will check the student's file to ensure that he/she can proceed to the next step. The student should meet individually with each examination committee member to discuss the materials that the student is responsible for during the written and oral qualifying exams.

- 2. Composition of the Qualifying Exam Committee
- **B.** The Qualifying Committee consists of five members. Please consult the <u>Graduate Division Rules</u> for the formation of your qualifying committee. The student should select the members of the Qualifying Exam Committee with the aid of the major professor and Graduate Advisor. The selection is subject to approval by Graduate Division. *The student's major professor is not permitted to serve on this committee.*
- C. Scheduling of the Qualifying Exam
- D. The student should contact each committee member to ensure that they are willing to serve on the qualifying exam and to establish a tentative date and time for the written and oral exams. It is suggested that this be accomplished at least two months prior to the oral examination date. In order to officially nominate your qualifying committee, please go to R'Grad on R'web and choose the Nomination Qualifying Committee (Form 2). Submit this form at least two months before your exam date. You must receive an official confirmation and approval of your qualifying committee from Graduate Division before sitting for you exams. If you take your exam before official approval from Graduate Division, your exam may be invalidated.

After the committee is approved by Graduate Division, the student should formalize the written and oral exam dates. Allow sufficient time; the schedules of five faculty members must be accommodated. It is particularly important that the student plan ahead; especially if the student plans to take the oral and written exams during the summer months. It is recommended that the written and oral exams be separated by two weeks; a minimum of seven days must separate the written and oral exams to allow faculty members adequate time to correct and discuss the written examination with the student.

The student can reserve a room using. https://chassintranet.ucr.edu/frs. One week prior to the written exam it is wise for the student to reconfirm the dates, times, and locations of the written and oral exams with each committee member. This can be accomplished by email.

1. Dissertation Research Proposal

Because of the recommended timing of the written and oral exams, it is essential that the student submit the Dissertation Proposal to all members of the Qualifying Exam Committee **two weeks** prior to the written exams. The proposal should be typed and double-spaced. The proposal should include the following:

- 1. A concise summary of relevant background information. (2-3 pages)
- 2. Full justification for the dissertation research, including the hypotheses and research objectives that will guide the project. (1-2 pages)
- 3. Current research progress. (2-3 pages)
- 4. Future research directions, including an overview of the methods and expected results. (4-5 pages)

- 5. Bibliography that demonstrates a command of the relevant literature. (1-2 pages)
- 6. Tables, Figures, Algorithms and other data may be included in the proposal but will not contribute to the page count.

The length of the proposal is variable; suggested page limits are <u>merely guidelines</u>. It is important for the student to demonstrate understanding of the current and proposed research. It is strongly suggested that a draft of the proposal be reviewed by the Qualifying Exam Committee Chair prior to distribution to the Qualifying Exam Committee.

Because the student's research directly reflects the major professor's research program and interests, the major professor should have a guidance role for the proposed research directions. However, the major professor <u>MUST NOT</u> participate in the writing or editing of the Dissertation Proposal. Furthermore, NO other faculty member, regardless of their affiliation to MCBL or to the student, can participate in the writing or editing of the Dissertation Proposal.

The student should understand this does NOT determine the research requirements for the Ph.D.; the dissertation proposal is a vehicle for the student to introduce the Qualifying Exam Committee to the student's accomplishments and research strategies.

2. Written Examination

The written exam will be designed to test the student's ability to synthesize and integrate basic concepts in microbiology. Since each student's training is considered unique, the level of knowledge in the general areas varies between students. Accordingly, the committee will expect the student to have a substantive knowledge in the student's area of specialization.

The written exam will be held over a period of two days. The exam will consist of questions submitted from each committee member. The outside member has the option to submit questions. The time allotted for each set of questions will be determined by whether or not the outside member submits questions. The Chair will indicate the length of each question set. The student may choose the order of question sets during the two-day exam period.

The exam is closed book, unless a committee member indicates otherwise for their portion of the exam. The student will take the exam in a designated room, for designated lengths of time. Each portion of the written exam, written by one committee member, should last two to three hours. The student will pick up and drop off questions from the Qualifying Exam Committee Chair. A break between question sets is permissible. Student promptness and honesty is essential.

Each committee member will grade the answers to his or her questions and relay the results to the committee Chair. The grading is usually done within a few days of the exam. The student may view the written exam after grading and is encouraged to discuss difficulties with committee members prior to the oral exam, but may not take the exam with them, or make a copy. The written exam must be returned to the committee Chair. The chair of the committee must email the student with the result of the written exam, copying both the staff and faculty graduate advisor on the email. Upon successful completion of the written exam, the student proceeds to the oral examination.

If the student fails two or more sections of the written examination, he/she will not proceed to the oral exam. The Qualifying Exam Committee will recommend one of the following options: (1) additional coursework or independent study in the specific area(s) of weakness and then the student will have one opportunity to repeat those sections of the exam <u>or (2)</u> dismissal from MCBL. The timing of the repeat written examination, if offered by the committee, will depend on the extent of the recommended remedial work; it is expected that the written exam will be re-administered within three months.

3. Oral Examination

The Oral Qualifying Exam Committee Chair will describe the standard set of events of an oral exam. During the oral exam, the student should be prepared to briefly describe his/her academic history (2-3 min), long-term scientific career goals (2 min), and research project proposal (15-20 min). The student must adhere to these time limits - otherwise the exam exceeds the normal three hour period. Upon

successful completion of the oral qualifying exam, the student will be advanced to candidacy after the results of the successful exam is reported and then confirmed by Graduate Division. $\frac{2019/2020}{1000}$

If two or more of the examiners do not agree to pass the student at the end of the oral examination, the student will have failed. If the student fails the oral examination, the Qualifying Exam Committee will recommend one of the following options: (1) additional coursework or intensive independent study in the specific area(s) of weakness and then retake the oral exam, OR (2) dismissal from MCBL. The oral exam can be repeated only once, at the discretion of the exam committee, and must be passed for a student to continue in the MCBL. The timing of the oral re-examination will depend on the remedial work recommended by the Qualifying Exam Committee. Graduate Division requires that the Oral Examination be re-taken after three months have elapsed; it is expected that the exam will be readministered within six months.

E. Recommended Procedures for Chairs of MCBL Qualifying Exams

This is intended only as a guide. The Chair must be acquainted with and follow the current regulations of the Graduate Division.

Ph.D. QUALIFYING EXAMINATION

The Ph.D. Qualifying Exam is designed to test the student's ability to synthesize and integrate fundamental concepts in Microbiology. The student is also expected to defend a Dissertation Proposal.

1. Written Examination

The Chair of the Qualifying Committee should advise the candidate on setting up the date of the written and oral examinations. The entire exam, both written and oral, must be scheduled within a two-week period. The dates/exam members must be approved by Graduate Division at least 2 weeks prior to the exam. It is strongly recommended that the Chair consult with the Graduate Advisor to confirm that all of the courses on the students Course Program have been completed.

The Qualifying Committee consists of five members. Please consult the <u>Graduate Division Rules</u> for the formation of the qualifying committee. The qualifying committee must be approved by Graduate Division before the student sits for their exam. Exam questions should be collected from these members approximately one week in advance of the written exam date. The outside member is not required to submit written questions; this decision is to be made by the outside member.

Two weeks (14 days) prior to the Qualifying Examination, the student must provide each exam committee member with a Dissertation Research Proposal. Guidelines for the proposal are provided to the student in their MCBL Program Handbook. The proposal is not to be organized or written in conjunction with the Major Professor, but written by the student alone. The proposal does not define the research requirements for the Ph.D.; it is to act as a vehicle for the student to introduce the Qualifying Committee to the student's accomplishments and research strategies. It is also to provide a foundation for the initial questioning of the candidate in the oral exam.

The Chair should review all written questions for clarity, fairness, duplications and length. The total written exam should take ten to twelve hours and is normally administered over **two consecutive days**. This is approximately two to three hours per set of questions.

The candidate should be allowed to choose the order of the written exam questions, and he/she should be given one set of questions at a time.

The candidate must work on the questions alone and without outside references unless otherwise specified by a member of the committee. Please be sure the student **understands** that s/he is assumed to be in the examination room without outside resources for the duration of the exam. Trips to the restroom and to pick-up and return the exam are the only permissible activities. Any student found in violation of these rules will be dealt with in accordance to University regulations.

The Chair should collect the questions and answers and return the originals to the committee members for grading.

Each committee member should grade his/her exam questions within two days and provide the Chair with his/her opinion of the candidate's performance and **return the original exam and answers to**

the committee chair.

Upon successful completion of the exam, the student proceeds to the oral examination.

If a committee member has questions and concerns about the performance, these should be communicated to the Chair. If the student fails two sections or more of the written examination, s/he will not proceed to the oral exam. The committee must meet to decide a course of action. The Qualifying Exam Committee will recommend one of the following options: (1) additional coursework or independent study in the specific area(s) of weakness or (2) withdrawal from the program. The written exam can be repeated once; the second written exam must be passed for a student to continue in the program. Only the portions of the exam that were failed will need to be re-taken. The timing of the repeat written examination will depend on the remedial work recommended by the Qualifying Exam Committee; it is expected that the exam will be re-administered within six months to one year. If the oral exam is to be cancelled or postponed, the Graduate Advisor must be notified immediately, who will then notify the Graduate Division. If no more than one person is dissatisfied with the written exam, the oral exam will be conducted as scheduled. The Chair will communicate the results of the written exam to the student.

The student can review the exam in the presence of the Chair. The exam questions and answers MAY NOT be copied for or by the student. The student should be encouraged to discuss his performance with the committee members if he/she has questions. In this case, the committee chair can give the original copy of the exam to the committee member, who must not let the student take the exam questions or answers out of their presence or allow the student to make or have a copy of either. The committee member must return the original exam questions and answers to the committee chair after meeting with the student. The original exam questions and answers should be scanned and then submitted to the staff graduate advisor.

2. Oral Examination

The oral examination should be scheduled within two weeks of the written exam.

Prior to the oral exam, the committee Chair will describe the standard set of events of an oral exam to the student.

The Chair should bring to the oral exam the candidate's file, the original written exam questions and answers, and Form (3) from the Graduate Division entitled "Report of the Qualifying Exam,". This form is located on the Graduate Division website: https://graduate.ucr.edu/petitions-and-forms

On the exam date, after all committee members have convened, the Chair should excuse the candidate from the room so that the committee can discuss the candidate's record and performance on the written exam. The order of questioning should be decided at this time. Other issues regarding the candidate may be discussed. If this is a re-take of the oral exam, expectations for the retake should be discussed.

The exam will begin with the student's presentation. The student should be prepared to briefly describe his/her academic history (2-3 min), long-term scientific career goals (2 min), and research project proposal (15 to 20 min). The student is strongly advised to adhere to these time limits - otherwise the exam exceeds the normal three hour period. Upon successful completion of the oral qualifying exam, the student will be advanced to candidacy after the results of the exams are received and confirmed by Graduate Division.

Each committee member should be allocated at least 20 minutes for questioning. Generally, this questioning can address broad areas as well as area of the proposed research. The Chair should keep track of the time and advise committee members about the time available for their questions. The candidate should be offered the opportunity to take a ten-minute break after the second or third questioner. The Chair should be the last questioner. After all committee members have had the opportunity to question the candidate, the Chair should provide the opportunity for committee members to ask additional questions. When all members are satisfied that they have finished questioning, the candidate should be excused for the final decision-making discussion. The candidate may be asked to return for additional questioning *after* the committee's deliberations. In normal circumstances, the oral exam should not exceed three hours to this point. After the committee's deliberations, the candidate

will be invited back into the room and the result of the exam will be announced. The candidate may be asked to consult with individual committee members about any concerns at a later date.

Once an oral exam has started the committee must report a decision to the <u>Graduate Division</u> using a form found here: https://graduate.ucr.edu/petitions-and-forms, within 48 hours.

If two or more of the examiners do not agree to pass the student at the end of the oral examination, the student will have failed. If the student fails the oral examination, the Qualifying Exam Committee will recommend one of the following options: additional coursework or intensive independent study in the specific area(s) of weakness or dismissal from the program. The Qualifying Examination Committee cannot recommend a "Qualified Pass" in which, for example, they require the student to take or serve as teaching assistant for additional courses. The oral exam can be repeated once and must be passed for a student to continue in the program. The timing of the oral re-examination will depend on the remedial work recommended by the Qualifying Exam Committee. Graduate Division requires that exam be retaken after three months have elapsed. The Chair of the Qualifying Committee must report the decision and advice of the committee to the candidate. The Graduate Division is to be informed promptly of the results of the examinations using a form found here: https://graduate.ucr.edu/petitions-and-forms

The Chair should consult <u>Graduate Division</u> for information about the process. It should be noted that a 3-Yes to 2-No vote is considered a failure. However, if a member of the committee wished to petition the Graduate Council to consider a reversal of this judgment due to unfair or improper procedures during the exam, the student should be informed that a final decision has not been made.

3. Summary of the Dissertation Proposal Critique

Because five faculty members have read and evaluated the Dissertation Proposal, the committee often has suggestions for the student to consider when executing his/her thesis research. Because the major professor does not participate in the exam process, the Chair will provide to the student and to the major professor a short written summary of the committee's suggestions. This summary is to point to the strengths and weaknesses of the proposal as perceived by the Qualifying Exam Committee. These comments are suggestions intended to aid the student and perhaps to give novel insights or alternative strategies for the student's future research initiatives. This critique will summarize the many different ideas discussed about the proposal during the exam. It is hoped that this will allow the student to digest and evaluate the thoughts of the committee.

IV. Forms and Guidelines

A. Pathway to the Ph.D. Degree

Set up laboratory rotations (3-4 five-week rotations) no later than first week of 1st quarter in residence

Nominate a Guidance Committee (before Fall Qtr of year 1 of program). The committee is composed of a chairperson and two additional MCBL faculty. If student has chosen a major professor he/she should be the chair of the committee.

Meet with Grad Advisor/Guidance Committee by the end of the 2nd quarter of residence **to plan course program.**Submit Course Plan Program forms.

Reach an agreement with a Major Professor (by end of 2nd quarter in residence).

Meet with Guidance Committee (and later with Dissertation Committee) at least once / year to discuss research and progress.

Submit Annual Progress Report (yearly).

Complete Course Work

Nominate Qualifying Exam Committee with Graduate Division (at least 2months prior to date of qualifying exams). (Refer to Section III for committee membership requirements for specific tracks)

At least two weeks prior to the written Qualifying Exam, the student is required to provide a **Dissertation Research Proposal** that includes progress thus far to the Qualifying Exam Committee. The proposal should be developed in consultation with the Major Professor, but written by the student alone.

Qualifying Exam. Two full days of written exam questions followed by a three-hour oral exam (~ 1-2 weeks later). Qualifying Exam needs to be completed as soon as possible after finishing formal coursework (no later than 7th quarter in residence). If coursework is completed and Exam is passed, you are Advanced to Candidacy (normative time = 7 quarters).

Nominate a Dissertation Committee (at least three faculty members, Major Professor is the Chair). The Chair of the Dissertation Committee must be nominated at time of Oral Qualifying Exam. Balance of committee must be nominated within one quarter after passing the Qualifying Exam.

Oral Defense of the Dissertation

File Dissertation with Graduate Division

Ph.D. Awarded (normative time is 15 quarters)

Course Program for a Ph.D. in Microbiology

Student's Name:			
Major Professor (if known)			
Rotation 1Rotation 3	Rotation 2 Rotation 4		<u>-</u>
Use the following outline as a check list to Submit form to the student service advisor then be approved by the Graduate Advissional be submitted using the same form quarter schedule.	or after your Guidance or and entered into yo	Committee Chair has our file. Any future rev	signed it. It will risions to this plan
Entry Requirements:	Eq	uivalent Course and	institution:
Courses at UCR: BCH 110A, 110B Biochemistry			
BCH 110C or BIOL 107A Molecular	Biology		
BIOL 102 Introductory Genetics			
CHEM 1A-1B-C General Chemistry	with lab		
CHEM 112A-B Organic Chemistry w	rith lab		
MATH 9A-9B Calculus	_		
MCBL 121 and 121L Microbiology v	vith lab		
STAT 100A or 120A Introduction to	Statistics		
* Deficiencies should be rectified in the fi	rst year at UCR		
Core Classes (required courses to be	taken in the MCBL pl	rogram at UCR):	
Class	Term planned	Completed	Grade
BIOL/MCBL 221 Microbial Genetics	Fall Every Year		
MCBL 202 Microbial Pathogenisis	Winter Every Year		
MCBL/SWSC 211 Microbial Ecology	Spring Every Year		

Elective classes (determined by Guidance Committee and student in consultation with Major Professor or Graduate Advisor):

Class	Term Planned	Completed	Grade
MCBL Seminars Students are required to enroll in MCBL 250 each below:	h quarter in residence.	. Please list any exce	eptions
Signature Approvals:			
Student		Date	
Major Professor/Chair Guidance Committee		Date	
Graduate Advisor			

Course Plan Form

Courses Required by Guidance Committee

Quarter			Quarter			Quarter		
COURSE#	COURSE TITLE	UNITS	COURSE#	COURSE TITLE	UNITS	COURSE#	COURSE TITLE	UNITS
Quarter			Quarter			Quarter		
COURSE#	COURSE TITLE	UNITS	COURSE#	COURSE TITLE	UNITS	COURSE#	COURSE TITLE	UNITS

Name of Student

Course Plan Form (continued)

		Quarter			Quarter		
COURSE TITLE	UNITS	COURSE#	COURSE TITLE	UNITS	COURSE#	COURSE TITLE	UNITS
		Quarter		I	Quarter		l
COURSE TITLE	UNITS	COURSE#	COURSE TITLE	UNITS	COURSE#	COURSE TITLE	UNITS
	COURSE TITLE	COURSE TITLE UNITS	COURSE TITLE UNITS COURSE #	COURSE TITLE UNITS COURSE # COURSE TITLE Outside the course of the cour	COURSE TITLE UNITS COURSE # COURSE TITLE UNITS Quarter	COURSE TITLE UNITS COURSE # COURSE TITLE UNITS COURSE #	COURSE TITLE UNITS COURSE # COURSE TITLE UNITS COURSE # COURSE TITLE OURSE TITLE UNITS COURSE # COURSE TITLE

Annual Research Progress Evaluation (ARPE)
Dissertation/Thesis Committee Report

Student Last Name	Student First Name
-------------------	--------------------

Graduate students must consult with and prepare a report for their Thesis/Dissertation Committee at least once yearly. The Chair in consultation with the committee shall use the form below to evaluate the student.

Overall Performance	Please evaluate the student in each of the following areas:				
	Acquired	Being Developed	Needs Improvement	Not Applicable	Not Yet Able to Assess
Background knowledge of the field					
Ability to critically assess the literature					
Ability to independently broaden the relevant knowledge base					
Continuing acquisition of theory and skills					
Knowledge of relevant language(s)					
Ability to develop a research plan					
Ability to carry out the research plan					
Skill in analysis/interpretation of data					
Skill in applying appropriate research method					
Ability to develop an argument in sustained passages of writing					
Ability to prepare and give a conference presentation					
Understanding the peer review process					
Ability to develop & write grant proposals					
Understanding of career options and ability to develop a career plan					
	Satisfactory	Being Developed	Needs Improvement	Not Applicable	Not Yet Able to Assess
Quality of writing					
Quality of oral presentations					
Making adequate Research Progress					

Are there any concerns about the research project?	Click here to enter text.
Are there any concerns about the student's performance?	Click here to enter text.
Have any concerns and recommendations from the previous ARPE been addressed?	Click here to enter text.
Specific recommendations and plans for the next academic year	Click here to enter text.

Guidance/Dissertation/Thesis Committee

Name	Signature	Date
Click here to enter text.		Click here
		to enter a
		date.
Click here to enter text.		Click here
		to enter a
		date.
Click here to enter text.		Click here
		to enter a
		date.
Click here to enter text.		Click here
		to enter a
		date.

Graduate Student

Name	Signature	Date
Click here to enter text.		Click here
		to enter a
		date.